
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF ZONING 
APPEALS OF HENRICO COUNTY, HELD IN THE BOARD ROOM OF THE 
COUNTY ADMINISTRATION BUILDING IN THE HENRICO COUNTY 
GOVERNMENT COMPLEX, ON THURSDAY, OCTOBER 19, 2006, AT 9:00 
A.M., NOTICE HAVING BEEN PUBLISHED IN THE RICHMOND TIMES-
DISPATCH ON SEPTEMBER 28, 2006 AND OCTOBER 5, 2006. 
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Members Present:  James W. Nunnally, Chairman 
    Richard Kirkland, CBZA, Vice-Chairman 
    Elizabeth G. Dwyer 
    Helen E. Harris 
    R. A. Wright 
 
 
Also Present:  David D. O’Kelly, Assistant Director of Planning 
    Thomas T. Tokarz, Assistant County Attorney 
    Benjamin Blankinship, Secretary 
    Paul M. Gidley, County Planner 
    Ann Cleary, Recording Secretary 
     
Mr. Nunnally:  Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.  We welcome you to 
our October meeting for the Board of Zoning Appeals and we ask you to please 
stand and join us in the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag of Our Country.  
Thank you. Be seated.  Mr. Blankinship, do you have any deferrals or 
withdrawals? 
 
Mr. Blankinship: No, sir. We do not. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Mr. Blankinship would you please read the rules for the 
meeting, please? 
 
Mr. Blankinship: The rules for this meeting are as follows: Acting as secretary 
I will call each of the two cases and as I am speaking, the applicants can come 
down to the podium.  We will ask everyone who intends to speak, which, I guess, 
will be the two of you, to stand and be sworn in.  Then the applicant will present 
their testimony, and after the Board has asked their questions, anyone else who 
wishes to speak will be given that opportunity.  If anyone speaks, the applicant 
will have the opportunity for rebuttal.  The meeting is being tape recorded, so we 
will ask everyone who speaks to speak directly into the microphone, state your 
name, please spell your name, and if you are not aware of the conditions that 
have been recommended to this case, you need to be aware of those, because 
you will be asked specifically to agree to the proposed conditions. 
 
UP-39-2006 
Varina 

ST. PAUL’S BAPTIST CHURCH requests a conditional 
use permit pursuant to Section 24-116(c)(1) to install a 
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temporary trailer at 4247 Creighton Road (Parcel 815-732-
6107), zoned A-1, Agricultural District (Varina). 
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Mr. Nunnally:  Is anyone else here interested in this case?  All right.  Will 
you raise your right hand and be sworn? 
 
Mr. Blankinship: Do you swear the testimony you are about to give is the 
truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth so help you God? 
 
Mr. Derricott:  I do. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Please state your name for the record and tell us what you 
are requesting. 
 
Mr. Derricott:  Mr. Hamilton Derricott.  We are requesting a temporary 
trailer to be set on site.  We at St. Paul’s are experiencing exponential growth 
and one of the areas where we are concerned is finding a consistent place for 
our new members, and so we feel that bringing this trailer on site until we can go 
forward with our Phase 2 construction will provide a consistent space for our new 
members to have meetings at nighttime.  We are requesting from the hours of 
5:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m., because that is when most of our new members can 
come out to our church for meetings, because they all work. 
 
Mr. Kirkland:  According to my report here, it says that the proposed trailer 
will be used as a staff meeting space six days a week between the hours of 5:00 
p.m. and 9:00 p.m.  These members are not staff. 
 
Mr. Derricott:  No.  It is for some staff members that have to meet with 
them, that is what it is for.  We have conference rooms and meeting rooms for 
our staff. 
 
Mr. Kirkland:  I was thinking that all of that space you all have over there, 
you wouldn’t need a trailer. 
 
Mr. Derricott:  Well, that is the thing, that is why we kind of need the trailer, 
because what is happening Monday through Friday evenings, you have all of the 
members of St. Paul’s having various meetings, and so for the new members, 
they are new to the site.  So, what happens, for one night there will be a meeting 
on the second floor, and then the next night there will be a meeting on the first 
floor, and so these people are coming and they are getting lost and they are 
missing the meetings, but if we can get a consistent site, then they will all know 
to meet at the temporary trailer site. 
 
Mr. Kirkland:  You are planning on having this trailer for how long, one 
year? 
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Mr. Derricott:  Two years. 
 
Mr. Kirkland:  Two years. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  And have you read the conditions? 
 
Mr. Derricott:  Yes, ma’am. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  Do you realize they will not be renewed? 
 
Mr. Derricott:  Yes, ma’am. 
 
Ms. Harris:  Will there be offices in the trailer or is that a classroom 
setting? 
 
Mr. Derricott:  It is a classroom setting.  Yes, ma’am. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Any other questions from the Board or staff?  Hearing none, 
that concludes the case. 
 
DECISION: 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  UP-39-2006, St. Paul’s Baptist Church. 
 
Mr. Kirkland:  I make a motion we approve it. 
 
Ms. Harris:  I second your motion. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Motion by Mr. Kirkland and second by Ms. Harris that we 
approve.  All in favor say aye.  All opposed say no.  The case has been 
approved. 
 
Mr. Blankinship: Mr. Kirkland, would you make a statement for the record, 
please? 
 
Mr. Kirkland:  This is a normal permit that we normally pass for a 
temporary trailer.  It is only good for two years.  I don’t think it interferes with 
anything, and it is just temporary.  I don’t know any facts you could use to back 
this up other than this is just a temporary use. 
 
Mr. Blankinship: There is no substantial detrimental impact and it is 
consistent with the zoning and the other uses. 
 
Mr. Kirkland:  Yes, you can add that in there. 
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After an advertised public hearing and on a motion by Mr. Kirkland, seconded by 
Ms. Harris, the Board granted application UP-39-2006 for a conditional use 
permit pursuant to Section 24-116(c)(1) to install a temporary trailer at 4247 
Creighton Road (Parcel 815-732-6107), zoned A-1, Agricultural District, (Varina).  
The Board granted the temporary conditional use permit subject to the following 
conditions: 
 
1. The trailer shall be removed from the site on or before September 30, 2008, at 
which time this permit shall expire and not be renewed 
 
2. The trailer shall be sited as shown on the plan submitted with this application.  
It shall not block any walkways required for handicapped accessibility. 
 
3. Any sanitary facilities in the trailer shall be connected to a disposal system 
approved by the health department. 
 
4. On or before September 28, 2007 the applicant shall submit a report to the 
Planning Department describing their plans for permanent staff meeting space. 
 
The Board granted the request because it found the proposed use will be in 
substantial accordance with the general purpose and objectives of Chapter 24 of 
the County Code.  
 
 
Affirmative: Dwyer, Harris, Kirkland, Nunnally, Wright   5 
Negative:           0 
Absent:           0 
 
 
A-39-2006 MARK W. AND PRISCILLA ROMERS request a variance 

from Section 24-94 to build a front porch at 305 Green 
Hollow Lane (Hunters Run) (Parcel 829-714-1666), zoned 
R-3, One-Family Residence District (Varina).  The front 
yard setback is not met.  The applicant proposes 34 feet 
front yard setback, where the Code requires 40 feet front 
yard setback. The applicant requests a variance of 6 feet 
front yard setback. 

 
Mr. Nunnally:  Is there anyone else interested in this case?  Please raise 
your hand and be sworn, sir. 
 
Mr. Blankinship: Do you swear the testimony you are about to give is the 
truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth, so help you God? 
 
Mr. Romers:  I do. 
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Mr. Nunnally:  Please state your name for the record, sir, and tell us what 
you are requesting. 
 
Mr. Romers:  Mark Romers.  I am here on behalf of me and my wife, 
Priscilla.  Is it possible to pass out this piece of paper?  Thank you for hearing me 
today.  We bought our home about a year ago in Sandston, almost exactly a year 
ago.  It is a new home in a new neighborhood, brand new neighborhood.  We 
decided this Spring to start to improve our home and in doing that we discovered 
that our home has been seriously, I guess, burdened.  We have  large high 
voltage power lines which are running across the back of my home, with the 
easement on the power lines directly against the back of my house, and also 
along the left side of my house, where the driveway and side porch are.  We 
were trying to do something to improve our home, so once we discovered that 
problem, we went to the front yard and began landscaping, and I built my wife a 
nice patio that we wanted, and as it was progressing, she asked me if we could 
make a porch out of it, since we were determining that we could not do much 
with the back of the house at all, as it would be dangerous to be under the power 
lines.  As we got into the process, I went to the County to ask what was 
necessary there and discovered that the easement line is right on the very front 
surface of my home, I mean the front setback lines, the very front wall of my 
home, and the high voltage power line easement is on the very back wall of my 
home, and we were kind of in a jam, and so at that point I didn’t want to proceed 
and do anything wrong, so I filed a variance and hope that we can find some 
relief here on the property so we can enjoy it the way we would like to.  At the 
same time, knowing that this is something that would be a concern to my 
neighbors, I went around and that document I passed out, I went to each 
neighbor that could see the front porch, along the front or the sides, or even on 
the back street, anyone relevant to it, and discussed this with all of them, about  
exactly what I had run into, and everyone, universally, was supportive of what I 
wanted to do, and, in fact, felt that it improved the community for their own 
purpose. So, we are hoping that we can get some relief on our property here, 
and that is our request. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  Mr. Blankinship, the staff report says that the Zoning 
Ordinance allows a four foot extension into the setback. 
 
Mr. Blankinship: A portion, up to six feet wide can extend up to four feet deep. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  Could a roof be built?  I am not sure how this would look or 
whether this would even be acceptable aesthetically, but could he build a roof 
that extended four feet out, even thought the porch itself and the base is now six 
feet? 
 
Mr. Blankinship: I think as long as the roof was no more than six feet wide, 
yes. 
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Ms. Dwyer:  It could extend four feet, then? 
 
Ms. Harris:  Do you have a proposed plan that we could actually see 
what it is that you wish to build over this stoop? 
 
Mr. Blankinship: Attached to the petition is a plan. 
 
Ms. Harris:  I saw that. 
 
Mr. Romers:  Do you mean like a front view, ma’am?  A picture of kind of 
what it would look like from the front?  I have some examples in my file here, but 
basically it is going to be a roof, there are similar ones in the neighborhood, all up 
and down the street there.  It would be kind of a hip roof across the entire front, 
and then there would be nice fluted aluminum columns and aluminum railings 
down the front.  It is just very nice.  That is my plan that would be aesthetically 
pleasing, certainly to my wife.  I can tell you what it would look like. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  Sir, when you filed your application, were you informed by 
staff that our jurisdiction is limited in these kinds of cases? 
 
Mr. Romers:  Yes, ma’am.  That is when I discovered it.  It was based on 
the roof line and the four foot penetration is under the standard setback.  It is 
within the rule and up to six feet wide.  What was on there on the house directly 
beside me is identical to my home.  We both have the power line problem on the 
back, and both of us have the exact same problem, I guess, but it is about a four 
foot by four foot porch encroach into the easement, if you will. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  What I wanted to say is that I think you have done a beautiful 
job on your porch and you’ve done your homework, as far as the neighbors are 
concerned.  The problem is with this kind of a case, you have reasonable use of 
your property.  We don’t have the authority to grant a variance. 
 
Mr. Romers:  I understand that is how the rule reads, ma’am, and in my 
case, I felt that with the power lines on the back I can’t use the back of the 
property, anything that is under high voltage, a thousand volt power line on the 
left side of the home.  I’ve only got a small area that I can use, and now I 
discover that on the front of the home, I can’t do anything else, and I felt that in 
this case that that was a hardship, that that was worthy of coming here today to 
discuss it. 
 
Ms. Dwyer -  Well, the standard is if you have reasonable use of your 
home as it is now, then that is sufficient. 
 
Mr. Romers:  I understand that, absolutely.  I am sorry.  I don’t have that 
file with me that has the building materials of the…but it exceeds the 
expectations of the neighborhood, for what that is worth. 
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Mr. Kirkland:  What is the distance from the rear of your house to the 
power line back there? 
 
Mr. Romers:  The physical center of the power line is 15 feet behind my 
house.  The easement is on both sides of the physical center, it is a triple line 
actually, so it is actually one line that is closer than that.  They are maybe six feet 
wide.  The easement on each side of the power line from Dominion Virginia 
Power is 15 feet, so the 15 feet from the center of that power line is right to the 
back of my bay window on the back of the house, exactly to that. 
 
Mr. Blankinship: And does this plan show that your shed is in that easement? 
 
Mr. Romers:  Yes. That shed was on the property when I bought it.  In 
reality, it is underneath the easement and correctly should be shoved back 
outside of that, but it is where it was when I bought it.  I talked to the power 
company about moving the power lines and why they are there, and I have been 
through the whole process, and I guess it is just from fairly poor planning at the 
time when it was done like that, because they were relocated when the 
development was done, but no one, the right people, whoever were not involved 
in moving them to the back of the property line, and they want astronomical 
money to move these lines. These lines power everything down through Bottoms 
Bridge.  It has nothing really to do with the neighborhood in which we are in.  Our 
neighborhood is underground power. 
 
Ms. Harris:  On the site map, do you have access to that, Mr. Romers?  
At 401 and 413, I was looking at the footprint there where the porch seems to 
extend. 
 
Mr. Romers:  What document are you looking at? 
 
Ms. Harris:  The site map. 
 
Mr. Romers:  What I gave you? 
 
Ms. Harris:  No.   It goes more to the right.  Do you see 401 and 413? 
Are you familiar with those homes? 
 
Mr. Romers:  I am familiar with those homes. Yes, ma’am. 
 
Ms. Harris:  Do they have what you want to construct?  Is that similar to 
what you have in mind for your home? 
 
Mr. Romers:  Well, looking at 401 and 413 here, I am not completely sure.  
There are at least six homes on the block there that have the same porch that I 
want to build, except the building materials used were, let’s say, builder grade, 
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and it was that kind of neighborhood at that time, and the materials aren’t usually 
state of the art materials, fluted aluminum columns and that kind of thing, so the 
physical look, ma’am, to answer your question, is identical.  I don’t know if 401 
has it.  I know that directly across the street from me, 308, is that a house?  The 
home directly across the street has the exact same porch that I want to build.  It 
is just three quarters width on the house as opposed to full width, and down the 
street, about 408 or just to the right of 408 is another home that has the exact full 
width porch identical to what I want to build. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  But there is no evidence that those porches protrude into the 
setback? 
 
Mr. Romers:  Oh, I am absolutely sure, ma’am, they don’t.  You can look 
at the line up of those two homes, 301 and 305.  The power line runs right behind 
those two homes and then turns in my side yard and goes across the street and 
after I got into this and realized it, you can go line up beside those two brick walls 
with the fronts of their house and you won’t see any other home down the rest of 
the street, because they have built to the front of the property right up to the 
setback, too, I guess, to maximize the size of the home that sits between the 
easement line and the setback line.  No ma’am. No one else, as far as I know, in 
that neighborhood, would be requiring a variance or violating the setbacks, the 
ruling that exists today. 
 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Are there any other questions from the Board or staff? 
Hearing none, that completes the case.  We will let you know in a little bit, sir.  
 
Mr. Romers:  Thank you. 
 
DECISION: 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  All right, A-39-2006, Mark W. and Priscilla Romers.  Do I 
have a motion on that? 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  I move that A-39-2006 be denied because the applicant has 
reasonable beneficial use of the property without the variance. 
 
Mr. Wright:  I second the motion. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  We have a motion by Ms. Dwyer and a second by Mr. Wright 
to deny.  All in favor say aye.  All opposed say no.  The case has been denied. 
 
 
Affirmative:  Dwyer, Harris, Kirkland, Nunnally, Wright  5 
Negative:          0 
Absent:          0 
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After an advertised public hearing and on a motion by Ms. Dwyer, seconded by 
Mr. Wright, the Board denied application A-39-2006 for a variance to build a 
front porch at 305 Green Hollow Lane (Hunters Run) (Parcel 829-714-1666), 
zoned R-3, One-Family Residence District (Varina). 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Now we have the minutes for July 27, 2006.  I think that is 
the one we deferred until this month. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  I have a few changes. Page 5, I think the word should be 
“some” and that is on line 185 and line 188, and on page 13, the word “a human” 
should have been “opinion.” That was on line 546, page 13.  On page 16, I think 
Mr. Wright may have made the statement beginning on 715.  Mr. Wright, you 
might want to check that. 
 
Mr. Wright:  I had all that stuff and reviewed it at the last meeting, and I 
don’t know what I did with it.   
 
Ms. Dwyer:  Well, you made the motion and that paragraph is part of the 
motion, and then I seconded it, and it is transcribed and said that I made the 
supporting statement for the motion and then seconded it. 
 
Mr. Wright:  Yes, that does not make any sense. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  Let’s attribute that to him.  It is nothing real bad in there.  
Then on page 22, line 954, I think the word “under” and “use” on that line were 
erroneously repeated from the line afterwards, so just omit the word under and 
the word use on line 954.  I have just a few more.  Page 30, line 1318, “restoring” 
instead of “storing.”  And then on line 1334, “highest use” instead of “logical use.”  
Then, on page 59, line 2590, “to agree” instead of “in agreement.”  That is all I 
have. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Does anyone else have any corrections to the July minutes? 
Do we have a motion on that? 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  I move they be approved as amended. 
 
Mr. Kirkland:  Second. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Motion by Ms. Dwyer and seconded by Mr. Kirkland.  All in 
favor say aye.  All opposed say no.  The minutes of the July meeting are 
approved. 
 
On a motion by Ms. Dwyer, seconded by Mr. Kirkland, the Board approved the 
Minutes of the July 27, 2006 Henrico County Board of Zoning Appeals meeting. 
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Affirmative:  Dwyer, Harris, Kirkland, Nunnally, Wright  5 
Negative:          0 
Absent:          0 
 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  The August minutes. 
 
Mr. Wright:  I didn’t see anything particularly in error.  I move we approve 
the minutes of the August 24, 2006 meeting. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  Second. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Motion by Mr. Wright, seconded by Ms. Dwyer that the 
August 24, 2006 minutes be approved. All in favor say aye.  All opposed say no. 
The minutes have been approved. 
 
On a motion by Mr. Wright, seconded by Ms. Dwyer, the Board approved the 
minutes of the August 24, 2006 Henrico County Board of Zoning Appeals 
meeting. 
 
 
Affirmative:  Dwyer, Harris, Kirkland, Nunnally, Wright  5 
Negative:          0 
Absent:          0 
 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  September minutes. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  I move we approve the minutes. 
 
Ms. Harris:  Second. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Motion by Ms. Dwyer, seconded by Ms. Harris that we 
approve the minutes of the September 28, 2006 meeting.  All in favor say aye. All 
opposed say no. The September 28, 2006 minutes have been approved. 
 
On a motion by Ms. Dwyer, seconded by Ms. Harris, the Board approved the 
minutes of the September 28, 2006 meeting of the Henrico County Board of 
Zoning Appeals. 
 
 
Affirmative:  Dwyer, Harris, Kirkland, Nunnally, Wright  5 
Negative:          0 
Absent:          0 
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Presentation by Assistant County Attorney Tom Tokarz on the recent 
Virginia Supreme Court decision in Cherrystone Inlet, LLC v. Northampton 
County Board of Zoning Appeals, 271 Va. 670 (2006) 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Now we have Mr. Tokarz.  Is that right? 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  Yes, sir. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Good morning, sir. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  Good morning, Mr. Chairman, and members of the Board.  I 
was asked to tell you about the law, so here I am. 
 
Members of the Board, what I have done is sort of summarize for you the facts of 
this case because I know that in your Board packet the case was sent to you.  
They are a little confusing so I tried to decode it for you in the statement of facts 
up there, and rather than read it all, I will give you a second to read it yourself, 
and then I will tell you what I think the significance of this case is. 
 
Mr. Chairman, I think the significance of this case, now that you have had a 
chance to read through the facts, this is the Supreme Court’s most recent 
application of the Cochran standard, which Ms. Dwyer referred to in the last case 
that you heard, because basically the Board of Zoning Appeals, according to the 
Supreme Court, does not have the authority to grant a variance in any case 
where the owner has reasonable beneficial use of the property taken as a whole.  
This particular case is their application of that standard to the situation where 
after ordinance provisions went into effect, lots were created and a variance was 
requested on the basis of a lot created after the effective date of the ordinance.  
The Supreme Court held, and this is one of the most important parts of the case, 
that if you create the lots after the effective date of the ordinance requirement, 
the owner may not come to you and ask for a variance for each of the new lots, 
because those lots were not in existence at the time of the ordinance and the 
proper application of the Code is to consider all of the lots together, taken as a 
whole, and in that particular situation because the four lots that were unbuildable 
under the ordinance at the time of the variance request were part of the entire 
parcel and that the entire parcel, when taken together, could be used for a 
residence, the BZA properly denied the variance and, therefore, the Supreme 
Court upheld the BZA.  Now, I think the implication of this is very important, and I 
think it has bearing on what Ben is going to be talking to you about probably at 
your next meeting, and that is the time of the creation of the lot is critical, based 
on this decision, to the determination of the property taken as a whole.  And I 
read this decision to say that you have to evaluate the date of the creation of the 
lot in relation to the ordinance provision that is being requested for relief in 
making your determination of the property taken as a whole.  I think this has 
implications, particularly with respect to family subdivisions, and what I have 

October 19, 2006                                                                                        Board of Zoning Appeals 11



494 
495 
496 
497 
498 
499 
500 
501 
502 
503 
504 
505 
506 
507 
508 
509 
510 
511 
512 
513 
514 
515 
516 
517 
518 
519 
520 
521 
522 
523 
524 
525 
526 
527 
528 
529 
530 
531 
532 
533 
534 
535 
536 
537 
538 
539 

suggested to Ben is that when he comes back with his presentation, that we 
specifically address family subdivisions as one piece of the analysis, because 
that is an important part of some of the types of cases that come before you, and 
I’d like to at least offer you our guidance or our view of the law so that you have 
the benefit of that in making your decisions.  So, that is what I believe the 
significance of the case is, and this has been one of those questions that needed 
to come up before the Supreme Court to help flesh out the Cochran case.  I think 
we now know the answer to this piece and there is one remaining question, I 
think, that is not explicitly stated here, but it is going to have some impact on 
what you have in some cases that may come before you, and that is what I want 
to work with Ben on in presenting his presentation and it is this question: What is 
the effective date of the ordinance that you use to determine whether the lots that 
occurred before the effective date or after the effective date, and, as you know, 
the County has had a Zoning Ordinance from at least the 1920s.  We know, for 
example, from the State Fair case that the Zoning Ordinance in effect in 1959 
was critical in that case.  We know from the Hanover Trailer Park case that the 
Zoning Ordinance in effect in 1941 was critical, and so what I think what this case 
really stands for is that an additional piece of the analysis that staff will have to 
do is to say to you, #1, What is the Zoning Ordinance provision for which relief is 
being granted, and #2, When did that Zoning Ordinance provision come into 
effect, and then #3, When did the lot for which the variance is requested, when 
was that created?  I think those are now the factors to be considered in applying 
the taken as a whole test of Cochran and Cherrystone Inlet. 
 
Mr. Wright:  One thing, Mr. Tokarz, that I think this thing also emphasizes 
is, what is the meaning of reasonable beneficial use. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  Yes, sir. They quoted this. 
 
Mr. Wright:  It is used as a valuable waterfront amenity and 
appurtenance construction, so they hung that case on that, and that provided 
what they considered a reasonable use of the property, so that gives us 
something we will have to wrestle with as to what is a reasonable use of the 
property taken as a whole. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  Well, I think you are right, Mr. Wright, and I think my 
suggestion is that as that part of the opinion gets read, it gets read in conjunction 
with the three specific situations that were at issue in the Cochran case, and 
those, my recollection is and I don’t have Cochran right here in front of me, 
involves putting an accessory building on the property, and in that particular 
case, the court said you can’t put an accessory building on the property in 
violation of the ordinance requirements because you can have a house and you 
already have a house on the property.  I know there is another case, for example, 
where there was, that came before you, some months ago, where a garage was 
built I think 19 feet when the Ordinance only permitted 15 feet, and you denied 
the variance for that because they had reasonable beneficial use of the property.  
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So, the bottom line is, the way I understand Cochran and Cherrystone and the 
Statute taken together as interpreted by the Supreme Court is that if the property, 
as it existed at the time the Ordinance provision that is being requested for relief 
from, if the property taken together at that particular part, had a reasonable 
beneficial use, then as an administrative body, the BZA does not have the 
authority to grant a variance to give relief from that provision. The avenue for 
relief is properly then to the Board of Supervisors rather than to the Board of 
Zoning Appeals. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  That seems almost as radical as Cochran in a sense, 
because as you point out, they could have had five waterfront lots, yet the 
Supreme Court says one is enough and instead of the other four lots, you get a 
lot of space around you and that is enough of a beneficial use to satisfy the court. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  I will give you another example that you may remember, and 
it goes back 10 years, so I am not sure, I am not positive whether it came before 
you or came before the Board of Supervisors, but there was a marina case down 
in Varina where there was 23 acres of property on the James River, and it is a 
beautiful piece of property, and the developer came in and requested to put a 
subdivision on there in violation of the floodplain requirement, and the case was 
litigated and the court found in favor of the denial of the use permit for the 
property, because they said, “You can use the property not the way you want it, 
but you can have use of the property. You can have a tremendous single-family 
residence down there with the most private of marinas in this protected inlet,” and 
that was sufficient to prevent a taking, and on that basis, they denied the use 
permit request.  That went to the Supreme Court of Virginia and they found no 
error. 
 
Mr. Wright:  That is my point, because they put emphasis on the 
definition of what is a reasonable beneficial use of the property taken as a whole, 
and most of these cases that are facing us now don’t have residential on them.  It 
is unimproved property, the face of this property. In other words, could this be 
used for farm land?  Is that a reasonable use of the property?  If it is, then we 
don’t have the authority to grant any variance. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  That is correct, and Mr. Wright, that actually came up in the 
marina case because that was one of the uses that we identified for the property, 
and the court in its opinion specifically said as long as there are any uses under 
the zoning ordinance that are reasonably beneficial uses, even if they are not the 
uses that the owner would ever consider doing, we have to defer to the Zoning 
Ordinance and find against the use permit.  In that particular case, and really, I 
think ultimately, the point here of Cochran and Cherrystone is that it is ultimately 
up to the Board of Supervisors to decide and the Zoning Ordinance what uses 
they are going to permit, and what requirements they are going to impose, unless 
they prevent the owner from doing anything that is of value on the property.  
Now, I will give you the contrast.  The contrast is that had the evidence in a 
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particular case shown that the only use of the property was as vacant land, that 
somebody could enjoy for the enjoyment of nature, that probably would not 
suffice.  But, if the property can be used for agricultural or if it does have a 
recreational use for putting a marina on there, even though it is in the flood plain, 
then that is usually going to be deemed to be sufficient under the case law. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  In Cherrystone, they almost said that.  They almost said 
these four lots, you can enjoy them as vacant property that is an appurtenance to 
their home and… 
 
Mr. Wright:  That is water front.  It has a view.  That is the crux of it. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  I don’t think that the waterfront piece of it was… 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  I agree with Ms. Dwyer.  I think that is a factor that they 
considered in there, but had it not been on the waterfront, I think when you look 
at the other cases that were decided in the Cochran decision, the fact that the 
property itself could be used for a beneficial use was sufficient.  Had this property 
been in a wooded area and the lots were unable to meet setback requirements, 
but you still could put the house on it, I think the court would have reached the 
same result. 
 
Mr. Blankinship: So, what if the lots had been divided before the regulations 
came into effect? 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  If the lots had been divided before the regulations came into 
effect, then what the court would have looked at is under 15.2-2309.2, the 
language that is in the Statute, the BZA would then be entitled to look at, and 
here is the Code section, it says, “When a property owner can show that his 
property was acquired in good faith and where by reason of exceptional 
narrowness, shallowness, size or shape of a specific piece of property at the time 
of the effective date of the ordinance, then you go and you go through the factors 
about hardship and whether you can use the property and that type of thing. So, 
the answer to your question is if the lots were created prior to the Ordinance, 
then the BZA would certainly have the authority to consider the variance, using 
the statutory factors that are in here. 
 
Mr. Blankinship: And you wouldn’t look at Lot 5 as being an appurtenant to 
Lot 1.  You would look at them as separate parcels. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  Yes.  I think you would be able to look at them as separate 
parcels. 
 
Mr. Wright:  You wouldn’t take them as a whole?  That is the key. 
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Mr. Tokarz:  That is correct, if the division occurred prior to the 
Ordinance, then they are not taken as a whole at that point. 
 
Mr. Wright:  You can’t take them as a whole. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  Right. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  So staff is then going to, for each of the cases that comes up 
from now on, staff is going to talk to us about when the Ordinance took effect and 
how that relates to the particular facts that are presented.  Is that right? 
 
Mr. Blankinship: Yes, and we have usually mentioned that in some way in the 
report, but it is going to be a major part of the analysis.  Now it is important in the 
Cochran analysis. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  One of the issues that I see in addition to when the 
Ordinance took effect is what constitutes the division?  In this case, on the tax 
map these were separate lots, but the Court wasn’t persuaded that that was a 
sufficient division to count, and since we get a lot of cases where somebody has 
actually had a survey.  They have divided the property, and they filed the plat in 
the Record Room with the County, so if anyone goes to do research, they find 
that this is Lot 2, this is Lot 3 in the filed plat, even though they haven’t had 
subdivision approval, and then they sell lots and the unwitting buyer thinks 
they’ve got a lot that constitutes a lot, but under this case they may not, or may 
they?  I guess that is my question.  Does that constitute a division?  Let’s say that 
occurred before the Ordinance took effect.  They have platted it, but it has not 
been approved under the Subdivision Ordinance. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  I am not sure I know the answer, and the court struggled 
with the question.  They said that in the introductory fact, they said they couldn’t 
tell from the chain of title exactly how the divisions occurred.  They were shown 
on the tax map as separate parcels and I think what made this case more simple 
was the fact that they didn’t come in and ask for variances to build on the parcels 
that were shown on the tax map.  They came in and they divided it in an entirely 
different way, a new way, and they wanted to get variances for the new lots, and 
the new lots had been created after the Ordinance, so that was a fairly 
straightforward analysis.  What is going to be harder are the ones you are talking 
about.  What about the lots that were created in 1941 down in Varina, and they 
weren’t subdivided because you didn’t have to subdivide for the divisions they 
made back then, and the answer is that Ben is going to have to wrestle with it. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  So are we. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  It is like everything else.  I think it is going to have to be a 
case by case analysis to do that, and some of it is going to be hard to seize out, 
because the chain of title is not going to be clear, but I think what is interesting is 
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the Supreme Court did not treat the tax map parcels as one of them, and part of 
it, I think, was because if you looked at the description of the different sizes of the 
parcels, some of them were relatively large and some of them were very small.  
One of them was .302 of an acre and then another one was 2.301 acres, and the 
court said in their footnote #1, “These parcels bear no discernable relationship to 
the lots of which variance was sought.”  So, what I envision, and I don’t have a 
diagram, a diagram would have been great, is this long strip of land.  It had these 
funny little divisions on the tax map, the developer bought it, and then he said, 
“Well, I can’t sell them like this, so I am going to block them out like regular 
subdivision lots, and then I am going to get variances for them.”   
 
Mr. Blankinship: And that is the sort of thing we see in our office all of the 
time, where people buy these older exception lots, these 25 and 35 foot wide 
lots, and want to know how they can sort of consolidate and re-subdivide, so that 
is a live question for us. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  It is a live question, and a family subdivision question is a 
live question.  I will put in my one plug in advance, so you’ll hear a lot about this.  
I believe, based on the statute itself, and the Attorney General’s opinion, and his 
opinion was issued October 6, 1989.  I will actually ask Ben to attach this to his 
little report to you, so you will have the benefit, because this opinion describes 
the purpose of the family subdivision process, what the intent is, but one of the 
points is, and I think this is a point that I would hope would not get lost, is that the 
family subdivision statute is designed to provide an easy and expeditious way for 
families to divide their property without having to go through the subdivision 
ordinance process.  It does not provide a provision that allows a family 
subdivision to escape the requirements of the zoning ordinance, and that is a 
critical distinction, because what comes before you are variances from the 
Zoning Ordinance, not variances from the subdivision, and so what I think the 
intent of the legislature is that if you are going to do a family subdivision, that that 
family subdivision should be done in such a way that the lots created comply with 
the zoning ordinance if you plan to use them for anything other than agriculture 
or vacant land.  That is my understanding.  We will flesh that out for you in the 
report that Ben gives you on these public road frontage things, because that is 
one of the questions that comes before you is a lot created in a family 
subdivision, and it doesn’t have public road frontage, can you give it a variance 
and my thought is that in many cases you probably don’t have authority to do 
that, but we will explore that further, and we will give you those opinions. 
 
Mr. Wright:  Is this something, Mr. Tokarz, that the Board of Supervisors 
ought to be beginning to look into, because right as we go forward, they are not 
making any more land.  We have got what we have got, and to get the prices, 
because the County will not extend roads through these current vast areas, 
especially in Varina.  You’ve got open land and people are buying these little 
parcels and then coming in and wanting us to give them access to get to these 
properties of these parcels, and it looks like to me this is a problem that is 
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increasing, every day, and it looks like to me it is something the Supervisors 
need to really begin to look at. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  Well, Mr. Wright, one of the things that has occurred on 
occasions in the past, and those of you who have been around for a while will 
remember this, that on occasions when the Board of Zoning Appeals is facing a 
recurring situation where they think that legislative relief may be necessary, they 
have either adopted a resolution or directed the Secretary to request the 
Planning Office to bring it to the attention of the Planning Commission and the 
Board of Supervisors, and that certainly may be something you want to do after 
we have a discussion about the public road frontages at the next meeting and the 
meeting after that.  The issue becomes - there is obviously a tension between the 
desire for families to do divisions for the family members to use their land, and 
the desire of the Supervisors and the populous as a whole to have good land use 
planning, and so you have controversies about things like flag lots.  You have 
controversies about public road frontage.  There is a whole host of planning 
issues that end up getting resolved in the Zoning Ordinance, but if you are seeing 
recurring problems come before you, that you think need to be addressed, that 
certainly is appropriate for you to ask the Planning Commission and Board of 
Supervisors to give that another look. 
 
Mr. Wright:  Yes, most of our agenda these days is made up of zero front 
setbacks. 
 
Mr. Blankinship: Those are the only variances left. 
 
Mr. Wright:  Yes. We don’t have anything else. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  And, of course, the Board of Supervisors in enacting the 
Ordinance and amending the Ordinance can promulgate any regulations that 
they want to, and if they want to give relief as a general matter, they certainly 
have the opportunity to do that, and that would leave you all with an agenda 
where you all come and bang the gavel and… 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  At least have a special exception. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  That is right. 
 
Ms. Harris:  We really would not need the Board.  Let me ask this 
question.  Who created the problem?  Do you think the developer created the 
problem by…? 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  In Cherrystone?  Absolutely.  And I understand.  You know, I 
have done this for 15 years now.  I understand how the developers find a piece 
of land, excessively unusable or having great value because of waterfront 
property.  What is interesting in this set of facts is, as I understand it, is that 
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because of erosion that the water line often covers the entire property.  So it may 
have been that in this particular situation the developer said, “I will find a way to 
develop this property.  All I have to do is go and divide these lots into parcels that 
can be built upon and then go and get a variance.”  Prior to Cochran, that would 
have been a lot easier to do.  After Cochran, it is a lot harder to do, but if you 
read Cochran and read the prior cases to Cochran and case law nationwide 
about variances, really the variances are only designed to provide relief from 
unconstitutional takings.  They have been granted in case law far more than what 
the original purpose of the variance process was for.  It was really just to provide 
a way of preventing a confiscation of somebody’s property, which is different 
from letting people do just what they want to do. 
 
Ms. Harris:  So you don’t think that the Ordinance will cause overlapping 
setbacks, or everything to do with it, because that is the Code, but could there 
have been even more cases where overlapping setbacks would have created 
situations similar to this? 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  Well, as I understand the facts, the situation in Northampton 
was caused by the Chesapeake Bay Preservation Act Regulations.  We faced 
the same thing in Henrico when we adopted the Chesapeake Bay Preservation 
Act Program in December of 1991.  We spent probably two years drafting the 
Ordinance, and what we had to do was comply with good zoning, the existing 
Zoning Ordinance, the Subdivision Ordinance, Erosion and Sediment Control 
Ordinance, and the Chesapeake Bay Statute and the Chesapeake Bay 
Regulations.  And, if you read 24.106.3, which is our Ordinance, you see that 
there are 14 different exceptions put into the Ordinance at the time because we 
realized that when we adopted the Ordinance it would have an impact on people 
who already have existing lots or pending applications.  So, that is a long way of 
saying when you have new requirements to come in here, and this case will 
protect water quality in the Chesapeake Bay, there are always going to be 
concerns about the impact it is going to have on those lots and properties that 
get swept in there.  Sometimes they are grandfathered in if the Statute will allow 
and other times you really can’t do anything about it, because the General 
Assembly didn’t want those lots to be developed, and that is what this particular 
case was.  I don’t think they had any choice given what the General Assembly 
had enacted and the Act itself. 
 
Ms. Harris:  Getting back to the landlocked lots that we have just in the 
Varina District, are we expecting individual families to construct public roads or at 
least pay for part of public road construction in order to use their lot? 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  I don’t know the answer to that.  I think that goes to a 
question of road policy and I really think that, Ben that might be something as a 
factual matter you can research and include.  It is a good question, and I don’t 
know the answer. 
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Ms. Dwyer:  Maybe have someone from Public Works either come or 
give some input about how, I would like to know how they view some of these 
lots that have been created and built on in Varina that have no road frontage, 
because do we need maybe a more detailed Thoroughfare Plan?  Do we need a 
different policy in that part of the County where there are so few roads and so 
much patchwork development going on?  I think that is a huge issue, because 
my concern is that 20 years down the road we are going to have houses where 
roads need to be, and we are not going to be able to get the roads we need. 
 
Tom, I am intrigued by this, taken as a whole concept, because what that means 
is from now on, if somebody comes in with a lot they want to build on, they are 
going to have to look behind that lot and see, because that may not be the parcel 
that is “taken as a whole.”  That parcel if it was divided or subdivided from a 
larger piece of property last year may be just part of the property should be taken 
as a whole under this law, so we are going to have to look behind those 
individual parcels and determine where they came from and when they were 
divided to determine the law. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  I think that is correct, in fact, in Ben’s first draft of what I’ve 
seen of the Public Roads Frontage Report to you.  That is one of the criteria, one 
of the questions to be asked, and how you do your analysis and that he proposes 
to you as a critical factor.  I think that is true. 
 
Mr. Blankinship: The trick is, and Tom and I were discussing this briefly 
before the meeting, it may not have been divided last year.  It may have been 
divided in 1961, but the Ordinance that restricts it may have taken effect in 1960, 
so you might have a 45 year old lot that has been valid for 45 years, and people 
have always thought of it for two generations as a buildable lot, but it is not.  
Those are going to be the tough ones. 
 
Mr. Tokarz:  They will be tough questions.  There is one other thing, if I 
could, before Mr. Silber gets up.  I know Randy wants to say something, but I do 
want to talk to you during this discussion about Cochran.  Also, I want to mention 
one other thing and that is there was a case that the BZA considered a couple of 
months ago in which there was a discussion about the reasonable use standard, 
and there was also a discussion in the minutes of the highest and best use, and 
discussion about what the proper standard is.  I would only suggest to you that 
particularly with respect to Cherrystone, affirming what Cochran has said, the 
highest and best use is not the standard.  The standard is whether there is any 
reasonable use and that is regardless of the zoning, and regardless of the use 
that the owner wants to put into it.  The question is whether any land owner could 
make any reasonable beneficial use of the property, and I think that is the test 
that needs to be applied.  I just put that one last statement in, and I will let Mr. 
Silber talk. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Good morning, Mr. Silber. 
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Mr. Silber:  Good morning.  I don’t know if you want to hear from me, but 
I thought I might want to elaborate on Mr. Wright’s question that he had about 
former divisions.  I came here today not to speak whatsoever.  I wanted to hear 
what Tom had to say on the Cherrystone case, but I thought maybe I could add a 
few comments or thoughts relative to family divisions of land and the public street 
frontage information that Mr. Blankinship is going to present.  Again, I am Randy 
Silber, the Director of Planning.  
 
The County Administration and the Board of Supervisors is keenly aware of the 
situation of variances being granted or requested for zero road frontage or 
variances for the public street requirement.  Obviously, the Code has been in 
place for quite some time and required all residential properties and lots to have 
public road frontage.  We continue to feel that that is a very important 
requirement.  We do understand, though, that there will be circumstances where 
families will want to divide properties and allow for divisions of property for family 
members.  However, when those divisions of property are allowed and do take 
place, they are creating some very serious complications on a daily basis 
involving the future development of land.  Each time those variances are granted, 
you are also providing parcels of land that don’t have public road frontage and 
easements are being provided whereby people are obtaining access through 
these easements.  When property around it comes in to be subdivided, we are 
having to deal with these private easements, having to deal with these properties 
that don’t have public road frontage and it is becoming a real challenge to deal 
with these from a legal standpoint, access standpoint, be it a relationship of 
homes that may not be homes fronting on a public street, and sometimes they 
are fronting in the back of houses.  It is becoming a real challenge.  As the 
County continues to develop, it is becoming more of a challenge, and we have 
these all over the County.  There have been situations in the West End that 
we’ve had to work around with private easements, so I would suggest to you that, 
Mr. Wright, you were saying that maybe this may lead to something that has to 
be dealt with legislatively and maybe we need to have the Board of Supervisors 
look at this.  I think the Board of Supervisors will tell you, and certainly the 
County administration will tell you, we think the Code is appropriate the way that 
it is.  We would prefer the Board of Zoning Appeals look very seriously at each 
and every one of these requests and be very concerned about the granting of 
these, because each of these can become a nightmare later on as land develops 
around them.  We do intend to put together some criteria, a check list and some 
information that will help you in looking at these variance requests for family 
divisions.  Occasionally, it may be appropriate to grant those, but I think you need 
to look at them more closely. 
 
Mr. Wright:  My concern, Mr. Silber, we have got to balance this all with 
allowing people to use their property or some idea of that we can’t let you do that, 
because 100 years from now, the County might want to do something.  It looks 
like to me that it would be incumbent upon the County to proceed to have some 
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sort of Land Use Plan in effect to give some idea of what the use was for this 
property.  Then, you would have some guidance. 
 
Mr. Silber:  You are exactly right.  We don’t want to tell someone they 
can’t use their property forever, because at some point in time some property 
might develop and could cause some problems later on.  My point is the County 
does have a Land Use Plan which tells everybody what is intended to be 
developed on the property.  Secondly, we have a Major Thoroughfare Plan that 
has a network of roads that need to be built, and each and every time one of 
these family divisions come up, they need to be looking at the future land use 
and they need to be looking at what the Major Thoroughfare Plan says, and that 
really should be in our report, sir, going to you. 
 
Mr. Wright:  That is my point.  We don’t have that information. 
 
Mr. Silber:   In addition, I think you need to keep in mind that you have a 
Subdivision Ordinance Requirement and Policy, and that is when someone 
wants to develop this piece of property, they are supposed to build a public road 
for that piece of property.  So, while it might be a family division, staff needs to 
look at this and advise you, because in many cases there is a remedy, and that is 
to build a public road to that property and provide and meet the Ordinance 
requirements and provide for a better division of land that makes more sense.  
Keep in mind, also, that providing the services to these situations where they are 
having to use private easements for fire stations, for police, mail delivery, there 
are a lot of public services issues that come up when you are dealing with private 
easements and unkempt driveways and things like that.  It is a big issue.  It is a 
very serious concern.  I have had conversations with the County Manager 
regarding the issuance of variances for family divisions, so it shouldn’t be taken 
lightly.  I appreciate you hearing me out this morning. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  Another thing, too, Randy, when I look at these lots that 
don’t have road frontage, land is not created equal.  Land and lots have certain 
advantages.  Some might have waterfront, and some have disabilities.  They 
might have poor drainage or an unusual elevation or lots of problems and defects 
associated with the land, and I really do think if you have a lot without road 
frontage, that is a lot with a defect.  That is not a lot that you are entitled to 
develop without regard to the law.  The fact that it doesn’t have road frontage is a 
defect associated with that land and it is not necessarily that we are depriving 
people of the right to develop something that they could otherwise develop; it is 
land that has a defect.  This might be a piece that has a lake on it or some high 
elevation that could prevent the development, and that is kind of a natural defect.  
So, this is a legal defect that the lot has.  You are not obligated to remedy it 
necessarily. 
 
Mr. Silber:  I would agree with you on that.  I would also maybe take that 
a step further.  There may be some property, as you said, not all property is the 
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same, there may be some property that is very difficult to get a public road 
through.  It may mean even having to cross a floodplain or wetland, and maybe it 
is because of the configuration.  You can’t really develop this it in accordance 
with the County’s requirements because of physical characteristics because of 
the characteristics of the land.  In those circumstances, that might be where a 
variance is appropriate, but if it is just someone who is wanting to carve four 
more pieces off that doesn’t have road frontage, and they can do it very 
inexpensively by just extending this private driveway, and that is going to cause a 
problem later on.  If a public road could have been built, that could have 
remedied that situation.  So, I think it has to be reviewed on a case by case 
basis, but I think that the County has been very generous in granting these types 
of variances, and I think we may need to take a real close look at that, and staff 
needs to do a better job in advising Board of Zoning Appeals on where we think 
those issues exist and where we have long-range plans, it might help to guide 
you in those situations.  But I really think, from a legislative standpoint, as you 
say, you might need some help from the Board of Supervisors and I am not so 
sure they feel their help is needed.  They feel like the Code has been provided.  It 
requires public road frontage and whenever possible, you can be requiring that 
and denying some of these requests for zero public road frontage. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  So, Mr. Blankinship, the future staff reports will include the 
future subdivisions that have been approved around properties that we are 
looking at and the land use designation around that property.  Correct? 
 
Mr. Blankinship: We will come back to you at the next meeting, hopefully with 
written guidelines completed.  That may be helpful.  And they may have already 
been applied to a couple of cases. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  And also, the rule we were just discussing, what particular 
problem might ensue if a variance is granted to allow access to property that 
doesn’t have road frontage. Sort of a staff analysis of that issue, because we 
don’t necessarily know. 
 
Mr. Silber:  We might be able to pull some requests in the past and 
show how a variance could be granted, but if it was denied, here is a way that it 
can be divided in the future if the public road has been constructed and 
everybody comes out in a win-win situation.  We could probably give you some 
examples of how things could have been done. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  I would imagine that Mr. Blankinship is going to be asking for 
additional equipment in his office. 
 
Mr. Blankinship: It is a good thing we have fewer variance requests. 
 
Ms. Harris:  Or additional salary, or something.  I do have one question.  
I am expecting it now and I think the onus of – we have got to be careful that we 
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don’t favor developers over individual land owners.  I can see that this requiring 
that we look at the Future Land Use Plan, the Thoroughfare Plan, the public 
service issues and whatever else tells me that naturally the developer, who can 
afford to construct whatever of the roads that we want or we need, or we require, 
would have the advantage over an individual land owner.  The property may 
have been in the family since 1840, so I think that we are still going to have to 
look at some things aside from these factors I mentioned. 
 
I have one quick question. The project at Rocketts Landing, is that Henrico 
County? 
 
Mr. Silber:  Part of it is in Henrico County and part of it is in the City of 
Richmond. 
 
Ms. Harris:  Thank you.  They are not in the floodplain? 
 
Mr. Silber:  A portion of the property is in the floodplain. Yes, ma’am. 
 
Ms. Harris:  I don’t understand how you get around things like that. 
 
Mr. Silber:  A portion of the property in the flood portion is not being built 
on.  There is a marina that will be in the flood plain, and some open space and 
park land and some paths and trails and things.  Buildings and structures are out 
of the floodplain.  They are up on the bluff and away from all of the floodplain.  
The ordinance says that no residential dwellings can go in the floodplain.  You 
can build commercial structures in the floodplain, but you have to have the 
bottom floor at least one foot above the minimum flood elevations.  Commercial 
buildings can be put in the floodplain, but the floor has to be built above the flood 
elevations.  Residential cannot be built in the floodplain.  I do not believe that in 
Rocketts Landing that anything is being built in the floodplain except the marina, 
parks and walkways.  I hope I answered your question.  If you need more 
information, I will be glad to show you the plans. 
 
Ms. Harris:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Any other questions of Mr. Silber?  Thank you for coming, 
sir. 
 
Mr. Silber:  Thank you. 
 
Mr. Nunnally:  Thank you, Mr. Tokarz. 
 
Mr. Wright:  I move we adjourn. 
 
Ms. Dwyer:  Second. 
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Mr. Nunnally:  Motion by Mr. Wright and seconded by Ms. Dwyer.  All in 
favor please stand. 
 
There being no further business, and on a motion by Mr. Wright, seconded by 
Ms. Dwyer, the Board adjourned until November 16, 2006, at 9:00 a.m. 
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